#### IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

MARSHALL COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

2008-CA-01744

STEVE LACROIX

**APPELLEE** 

#### BRIEF OF APPELLANT, MARSHALL COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

# ON APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF MARSHALL COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

(ORAL ARGUMENT IS NOT REQUESTED)

#### **SUBMITTED BY:**

KENT E. SMITH ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

JUSTIN S. CLUCK
ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

SMITH WHALEY, P.L.L.C. ATTORNEYS AT LAW Post Office Drawer 849 Holly Springs, Mississippi 38635 Telephone: (662) 252-3003

Telephone: (662) 252-3003 Facsimile: (662) 252-3006

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

# STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

 Whether the trial court erred when finding that the records requested by Steve Lacroix were not confidential, did not contain confidential information and were not exempt from inspection pursuant to Federal law.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Nature of the Case

This appeal arises from a Complaint for Declaratory Judgment filed by the Marshall County Board of Supervisors (hereinafter "Marshall County" or "the County") regarding a request for disclosure of personal identifying information made by Steve Lacroix (hereinafter "Lacroix") pursuant to the Mississippi Public Records Act of 1983, M.C.A. § 25-61-1, et. seq. Disclosure of this personal identifying information is governed by the Federal Drivers Privacy Protection Act of 1994, 18 U.S.C. §§ 2721 to 2725 (DPPA).

After the Complaint for Declaratory Judgment was filed, Marshall County brought the case on for hearing before Chancellor Glenn Alderson for an adjudication of the issues. Argument was heard by the Chancellor, but no evidence or sworn testimony was presented which would warrant disclosure of the personal identifying information pursuant to an exception to the DPPA.

#### B. Statement of the Facts Relevant to the Issues Presented for Review.

On February 19, 2008, Steve Lacroix, requested that Marshall County permit him to inspect the following documents pursuant to the Mississippi Public Records Act:

Mississippi State Tax Commission Motor Vehicle Title/Registration Sys County Pre-Renewal Registration Edit County: Marshall, or any other method in use for the period of time requested which shows the name of the RES account, the account number and address of the party to be denied renewal for the time period of January 1, 2005 though the date of my inspection [February 19, 2008].

(R. 81)

No reason for the inspection was given by Lacroix at the time he delivered the request to Marshall County. The records requested by Lacroix pertain to the accounts issued by the County's solid waste contractor Resourceful Environmental Services (RES) to individual account holders in Marshall County. However, no account holder, presumably other than Lacroix himself, ever consented to Marshall County's release of their confidential account information.

Lacroix's request asked for personal and confidential information pertaining to each account holder including that individual's: (1) name; (2) individual account number; and (3) address. (Tr. 17). Further, Lacroix requested that this information be provided using the database maintained by the Mississippi State Tax Commission's Motor Vehicle Title and Registration System which also contained each person's vehicle identification number and vehicle title number. These records are used by Marshall County while performing various governmental functions by that office as well as by the Marshall County Board of Supervisors in the collection of delinquent garbage accounts.

#### C. Course of the Proceedings

Upon receiving Lacroix's request, Marshall County filed a Complaint for Declaratory Judgment pursuant to Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 57. (R. 10-13). The Complaint was filed in Marshall County Chancery Court pursuant to the Mississippi Public Records Act of 1983, M.C.A. § 25-61-1, et. seq., which vests jurisdiction in Chancery Court and sets venue in the County where the public records request was made. The Complaint requested that the Court decide whether the information requested by Lacroix was subject to production under the Mississippi Public Records Act, whether the information was "personal information" as defined by the DPPA which prevents

disclosure of any information about an individual obtained in connection with a motor vehicle record and whether any exception to the DPPA applied which would permit disclosure by Marshall County to Lacroix.

A final hearing on the Complaint for Declaratory Judgment was heard by Chancellor Glenn Alderson on September 25, 2008. The Chancellor heard argument from Marshall County that the records contained personal information which prohibited disclosure pursuant to the DPPA. In response Lacroix argued, but did not testify under oath, that although the DPPA did apply to the request, an exception for records produced in connection with a litigation proceeding permitted disclosure of the personal information. (Tr. 13). Lacroix further argued that the litigation exception applied in the matter at bar because he had filed "an action in District Court" that he required the information for, specifically for "evidentiary issues." (Tr. 13-14). However, Lacroix never put forward any proof to substantiate his claim that the public records request was related in any way to the "action in District Court" and even failed to state the style of the Federal action, what issues it had in common with the public record request and made no record setting forth the basis of the alleged "evidentiary issues" that he needed the information for. Instead of conducting an evidentiary hearing to substantiate Lacroix's litigation exception, the Chancellor responded by stating that "I did not know that you had an action in District Court." (Tr. 14).

Based solely upon Lacroix's allegation that he had an "action in District Court" the Chancellor found that none of this information was confidential because the "information could be obtained anywhere in the courthouse" in the land records, on deeds, on copies of deeds or on the windshield of a person's vehicle. (Tr.17-18).

The Chancellor found that the records requested by Lacroix were not confidential and did not contain confidential information. (R. 80-82). Further, the Chancellor misclassified the information as "confidential information" instead of classifying it as a category of information defined in the DPPA. (R. 82). Finally, the Chancellor ruled that the records were public records as contemplated by the Mississippi Public Records Act but did not cite any provision of the DPPA which would have permitted the records to be disclosed pursuant to any exception set forth in the DPPA. (R. 80-82).

## **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The standard of review for questions of law, including motions for declaratory judgment, is *de novo*. South Carolina Insurance Co. v. Keymon, 974 So.2d 226, 229 (Miss. 2008).

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Pursuant to the Federal Drivers Privacy Protection Act of 1994, (DPPA) disclosure by state departments of motor vehicles and their agents of drivers' personal information is prohibited except for a number of statutorily defined permissible uses. 18 U.S.C. §§ 2721 to 2725.

In order to permit disclosure under the DPPA, the requested information must first be classified into one of the two categories of information listed in the DPPA, either "personal information" or "highly restricted personal information." 18 U.S.C. § 2725 (3) and (4). After the information is categorized, evidence must be presented to decide whether one of fourteen exceptions to the DPPA applies which would permit disclosure of the information.

In the matter at bar, the Chancellor committed error when he classified the requested information as "confidential information" instead of classifying it according to the categories set forth in the DPPA. He also committed error when he found that no Federal law prohibited disclosure of the information because Lacroix presented no evidence to substantiate his claimed exception.

#### **ARGUMENT**

A. The Chancellor Erred When Failing to Classify The Information Under A Category Listed In The Federal Drivers Privacy Protection Act Of 1994

In February of 2008, Steve Lacroix made a request pursuant to the Mississippi Public Records Act of 1983, M.C.A. § 25-61-1, et. seq. to inspect the following public records in Marshall County:

Mississippi State Tax Commission Motor Vehicle Title/Registration Sys County Pre-Renewal Registration Edit County: Marshall, or any other method in use for the period of time requested which shows the name of the RES account, the account number and address of the party to be denied renewal for the time period of January 1, 2005 though the date of my inspection [February 19, 2008].

At the final hearing on the Complaint for Declaratory Judgment, Chancellor Glenn Alderson was provided the State Tax Commission motor vehicle records used by Marshall County to assess county garbage fees. After an *in camera* inspection, the Chancellor found that the records contained the following information: (1) the individual's name; (2) address; (3) vehicle title number; and (4) vehicle identification number. (Tr. 17). The Chancellor then found that this information was not "confidential" but made no finding as to whether it was "personal information" as contemplated by the Federal Drivers Privacy Protection Act of 1994.

Pursuant to the Public Records Act, Marshall County would have been required to disclose the information requested by Lacroix which was compiled in the County's motor vehicle records. However, in 1997, the United States Congress enacted the Federal Drivers Privacy Protection Act of 1994, (DPPA), which prohibits the disclosure of personal information contained in state motor vehicle records. 18 U.S.C. §§ 2721 to 2725. The DPPA was enacted to respond to the privacy and safety concerns arising from

broad access to the information contained in state motor vehicle department records. <u>See generally</u>, 18 U.S.C. §§ 2721 to 2725; Deborah F. Buckman, *Validity, Construction and Application of the Federal Driver's Privacy Protection Act*, 183 A.L.R. Fed. 37 (2007). The DPPA's original purpose was as a crime prevention measure as well as "to protect the personal privacy and safety of licensed drivers consistent with the legitimate needs of business and government." S.Res. 1589, 103<sup>rd</sup> Cong. §1(b), 139 Cong. Rec. 26,266 (1993)(enacted).

Prior to enactment of the DPPA, there were virtually no mechanisms in place to prevent widespread disclosure of personal information to the public, which created safety concerns for the public at large whose names, address, phone numbers, etc., were freely available to potential criminals. "The Act generally restricts and regulates disclosure by state departments of motor vehicles and their agents of drivers' personal information without their affirmative consent, except for a number of statutorily defined permissible uses." Deborah F. Buckman, *Validity, Construction and Application of the Federal Driver's Privacy Protection Act*, 183 A.L.R. Fed. 37 (2007).

After the enactment of the DPPA, this personal information became exempt from disclosure under the Mississippi Public Records Act pursuant to M.C.A. § 25-61-11 which states in pertinent part:

The provisions of this chapter shall not be construed to conflict with, amend, repeal or supersede any constitutional or statutory law or decision of a court of this state of the United States which at the time of this chapter is effective or thereafter specifically declares a public record to be confidential or privileged, or provides that a public records shall be exempt from the provisions of this chapter.

It is also clear that even without the provisions of M.C.A. § 25-61-11, the Supremacy Clause of the United States Constitution would preempt the Mississippi Public Records Act. Article VI, Section 2 of the United States Constitution ("the Supremacy Clause") Accordingly, the governing authority for Lacroix's request was not the Mississippi Public Records Act, as held by Chancellor Alderson, but instead is controlled by the DPPA.

When Lacroix made his request, Marshall County's disclosure was limited by the following provisions of the DPPA:

- (a) A state department of motor vehicle, and any officer, employee, or contractor thereof, shall not knowingly disclose or otherwise make available to any person or entity:
  - 1. Personal information, as defined in 18 U.S.C. 2725(3), about any individual obtained by the department in connection with a motor vehicle record, except as provided in subsection (b) of this section; or
  - 2. Highly restricted personal information, as defined in 18 U.S.C. 2725(4), about any individual obtained by the department in connection with a motor vehicle record, without the express consent of the person to whom such information applies, except uses permitted in subsections (b)(1), (b)(4), (b)(6) and (b)(9).

See 18 U.S.C. §§ 2721(a). Lacroix's request would therefore have required Marshall County to disclose "personal information" regarding thousands of taxpayers in its county. Under the DPPA the term "personal information" is defined as information "that identifies an individual, including an individual's photograph, social security number, driver identification number, name, address (but not the 5-digit zip code), telephone number, and medical or disability information." See 18 U.S.C. § 2725(3). Contrary to the Chancellor's analysis, there is no category of information defined as "confidential."

In his public records request, Lacroix requested information from the State of Mississippi State Tax Commission/Motor Vehicle Title database which revealed the name of citizens of Marshall County with garbage accounts through a private solid waste provider. His request also included the account numbers for the garbage accounts, the individuals vehicle identification number, vehicle title number and the address of those individuals, all of which are maintained in the State of Mississippi's Motor Vehicle database. Under the DPPA, Marshall County was strictly prohibited from disclosing specific names of individuals in the Motor Vehicle database, the person's address, their vehicle identification number and was arguably prohibited from providing the account number of those individuals. The only information Marshall County was permitted to disclose to Lacroix was his own personal information pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 2721.

Marshall County respectfully submits that the Chancellor used the wrong standard to determine exactly what type of information Lacroix was requesting. As set forth above, the DPPA specifically creates two categories of information and defines the information according to that classification. In addition to the category of information defined as "personal information" which would include a person's name and address, the DPPA also creates a category of "highly restricted personal information" which is defined as an individual's photograph or image, social security number, medical or disability information." 18 U.S.C. § 2725(4). Vehicle identification numbers and vehicle title numbers, although not specifically enumerated in the statue could arguably be classified as "highly restricted personal information." In order to decide whether the information requested by Lacroix was subject to production, it must first be classified correctly. The Chancellor therefore committed error when he classified it as "confidential" information

when there is no such category of information in the DPPA. Accordingly, this Court should reverse the Chancellor's finding that the information was "confidential," and categorize each piece of information as either "personal information" or "highly restricted personal information." Marshall County respectfully submits that names and addresses are personal information and that garbage account numbers, vehicle identification numbers and vehicle title numbers are highly restricted personal information.

# **B.** The Chancellor Erred When Finding That The Records Are Not Exempt From Inspection

Next, depending upon the classification of the information into one of the two categories set forth in the DPPA, there must next be a determination as to whether there is any exception under the DPPA which would permit disclosure. At hearing, Lacroix argued that his request was not prohibited by the DPPA due to an exception which permits the disclosure of such information if it is used in connection with a "civil criminal, administrative, or arbitral proceeding in any Federal, State, or local court agency." 18 U.S.C. § 2721(b)(4) (the "litigation exception"). The Chancellor questioned Lacorix about the purpose of his request and Lacroix argued that the information was necessary for "evidentiary" issues in a Federal case, which Lacroix had filed one or two weeks before the hearing. (Tr. 13-14). However, Lacroix did not produce any evidence which explained the basis of the litigation and how it applied to his February 19, 2008 public information request.

In making this argument, Lacroix also seems to have misunderstood the basis of this exception as it applies only if the information is necessary for use regarding "service of process, investigation in anticipation of litigation, and the execution or enforcement of

judgments and orders, or pursuant to an order of a Federal, State or local court." 18

U.S.C. § 2721(b)(4). There is no exception listed for "evidentiary" issues. The

Chancellor never inquired into the substance of the Federal proceeding and never
required Lacroix to put forward any proof to substantiate the factual basis which would
permit the Chancellor to find an exception to the DPPA. Specifically, the Chancellor
committed error when he failed to make a record which resolved the following issues to
permit disclosure under the DPPA:

- (1) What Court the litigation was pending in;
- (2) What partied were involved;
- (3) Whether consent was given by the individuals for disclosure of their information;
- (4) How did the public records request pertain to the Federal litigation;
- (5) What was the basis for Lacroix's use of this information in the Federal litigation;
- (6) Was the information being used for service of process;
- (7) Was the information being used to execute or enforce a judgment; and
- (8) Was there any Federal or State Court Order to release this information

Instead of making an evidentiary ruling setting forth the reasons that the requested information was exempt from the DPPA, the Chancellor ordered disclosure of this information to Lacorix without any analysis of the permissible uses under 18 U.S.C. § 2721(b)(4) and without any evidentiary support for Lacroix's purported use of the information. The Chancellor based his ruling on his assumption that the "information could be obtained anywhere in the courthouse" in the land records, on deeds, on copies of deeds or on the windshield of a person's vehicle. (Tr. 17-18). This however is not the standard for disclosing the information under the DPPA which requires evidentiary proof underlying any claimed exception.

Since all of the information requested by Lacroix was exempt from disclosure pursuant to the DPPA, Lacroix did not present sufficient evidence at hearing to permit

disclosure of the information under the litigation exception. Marshall County submits that Lacroix's failure to present any evidence regarding his claimed exception, prohibits disclosure and the Chancellor's Order should be reversed.

#### CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Marshall County respectfully submits that this Honorable Court should reverse Chancellor Alderson's October 1, 2008, Order and find that the records requested by Steve Lacroix contain personal information, highly restricted personal information and that the litigation exception to the DPPA is inapplicable to Lacroix's February 19, 2008, public information request.