IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2008-CA-01744

MARSHALL COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS APPELLANT

٧.

STEVE LACROIX

APPELLEE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

DATE OF JUDGMENT: OCTOBER 1, 2008

TRIAL JUDGE: SPECIAL CHANCELLOR, HON. GLENN ALDERSON

COURT FROM WHICH APPEALED: MARSHALL COUNTY CHANCERY COURT

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT: KENT SMITH

JUSTIN CLUCK

P.O. DRAWER 849

HOLLY SPRINGS, MS 38635

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEE: PRO SE:

STEVE LACROIX

384 RIVER RIDGE CIRCLE

BYHALIA, MS 38611

662-838-5412

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2008-CA-01744

MARSHALL COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS	APPELLANT		
v.			
STEVE LACROIX	APPELLEE		
CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

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

¶14. In Quarles v. St. Clair, 711 F.2d 691 (5th Cir.1983) the Court stated that a statute should ordinarily be interpreted according to its plain language, unless clear or contrary legislative intention is shown. In Pearl River Valley Water Supply Dist. v. Hinds County, 445 So.2d 1330 (Miss.1984) the Court opined that whatever the legislature says in the text of the statute is considered the best evidence of the legislative intent. See also Isbrandtsen Co. v. Johnson, 343 U.S. 779, 72 S.Ct. 1011, 96 L.Ed. 1294 (1952); 'When called upon to apply statutes to specific factual situations, we apply the statues literally according to their plain meaning, and there is no occasion to resort to rules of statutory interpretation where the language used by the legislature is plain, unambiguous and conveys a clear and definite meaning". Chandler v. City of Hackson Civil Serv, 687 So. 2d 142, 144 (1997) Jones v. Mississippi Employment Sec. Comm'n, 648 So. 2d 1138,1142 (Miss. 1995); Marx v. Broom, 632 So. 2d 1315, 1318 (Miss. 1994); City of Natchez v. Sullivan, 612 So. 2d 1087, 1089 (Miss. 1992; Foreman v. Carter, 269 So. 2d 865, 868 (Miss. 1972) Also see Thomas v. George, Hartz, Lundeen, Fulmer, Johnstone, King, and Stevens, P.a., Charles Michel Hartz, No. 06-16158, D. C. Docket No. 03-21759-CV-JEM, 11th Cir. COA, (April 24, 2008)(appellate review of 'litigation' exception to DPPA) (Thomas' assertion that Hartz did not specify which cases gave rise to the Custom and Practice letters is not a genuine issue of material fact.)

¶15. Petitioners carried the burden at both the Hatcher and Alderson Chancery Court trials of proving their entitlement to an exception under the Mississippi Public Records Act and the Federal Drivers Privacy Protection Act and failed to meet that burden. Frazier v. Pioneer Americas LLC, 455 F.3d 542 (5th Cir.2006); Evans v. Walter Indus., Inc., 449 F.3d 1159; Hart v. FedEx Ground Package System Inc., 457 F.3d 675 (7th Cir.2006)(burden of proving an exception falls on person seeking exemption); See Capital Newpapers Div. v. Burns, 496 N.E.2d 665, 667 (N.Y. 1986) Mississippi Department of Wildlife v. Mississippi Wildlife Enforcement Officers' Association, 740 So. 2d 925 (Miss. 1999) (stating that exemptions are to

be narrowly construed to provide maximum access, and the agency seeking to prevent disclosure carries the burden of demonstrating that the requested material falls squarely within an exemption)

- ¶16. "The touchstone for determining the burden of proof under a statutory cause of action is the statute itself." Schaffer v. Weast, 546 U.S. 49, 56, 126 S.Ct. 528, 534, 163 L.Ed. 2d 387 (2005). "When a statute is silent as to who bears the burden of proof, we resort to "the ordinary default rule that plaintiffs bear the risk of failing to prove their claims." Id. "[T]he general rule of statutory construction that the burden of proving justification or exemption under a special exception to the prohibitions of a statute generally rests on one who claims its benefits. [Petitioner] was not in a position to be passive; it was incumbent upon him to come forward with some evidence showing that the litigation clause did not apply, which he failed to do." Id.
- ¶17. It is well established that legal arguments may be waived if not properly preserved. In particular, a claim not presented in the trial court ordinarily cannot be raised for the first time on appeal. Singleton v. Wulff, 428 U.S. 106, 121 (1976) it is evident that appeal is not a trial and is not intended to give Petitioners a second opportunity to reargue the facts of its case.

This issue is barred as not supported by the record and not raised at trial. A trial court cannot be put in error on a matter which was not put to him for decision. Crenshaw v. State, 520 So. 2d 131, 134 (Miss. 1988); Howard v. State, 507 So. 2d 58, 63 (Miss. 1987) Quoting Taylor v. State of Mississippi, NO. 98-KA-00292-COA, ¶13 (Miss. 1999)

¶18. As indicated by the record, the argument in the Chancery Court was predicated entirely on the question of whether the subject records were to be made available to LaCroix pursuant to the Public Records Act (R. 13) Now Petitioners make a wholly new argument and assert new and additional issues that were not presented and preserved below. Petitioner's arguments are based on opinion and speculation, not supported by law or the record. None of Petitioner's arguments have merit because Petitioners arguments are conclusory and unsupported by fact and/or authority.

- ¶19. There is, however, an exception to the 'raise or waive' rule. It has been recognized that an exception to this general rule where an issue raised for the first time on appeal may be heard if it is a purely legal one and if consideration is necessary to avoid a miscarriage of justice. Langhoff Props., LLC v. BP Prods. N. Am., Inc., 519 F.3d 256, 261 n.12 (5th Cir. 2008). Although Petitioner's new argument might be considered a purely legal issue, Petitioners wholly fail to state any evidence or otherwise assert or argue how overturning the trial court's ruling would result in a miscarriage of justice necessitating a departure from the 'raise or waive' rule. Woodmen Life Insurance Society v. JRY, et al., No. 08-30405, (5th Cir., Mar. 23, 2009)
- ¶20. Petitioner's argument is specious. By selecting certain sections and phrases from the DPPA ⁶ and trial transcript, Appellants seek to avoid the obvious meaning of the DPPA and the intent of the trial judge. Most importantly, Petitioner's Petition for Declaratory Judgment wholly failed to seek judicial review and/or interpretation of the DPPA and/or make any judicial determination about its exceptions. Petitioners only sought the courts consideration of the records request submitted by LaCroix and the applicable law regarding production of such documents. (R. 13) Webster v. Fall, 266 U.S. 507, 511 (1925) ("Questions which merely lurk in the record, neither brought to the attention of the court nor ruled upon, are not to be considered as having been so decided as to constitute precedents.") Boggs v. West, 99-7003, (U.S. COA for Fed Cir., 1999) "we will not consider this argument in the first instance [the] argument concerning the interpretation of [DPPA or [Public Records Act] was not raised below."
- ¶21. The Chancery Court was not asked by Petitioners to review any of the issues now being presented on appeal. As a general rule, an appellate court will not hear on appeal issues that were not clearly raised in the proceedings below. See <u>Singleton v. Wulff</u>, 428 U.S. 106, 120 (1976); <u>Braun, Inc. v. Dynamics Corp. of Am.</u>, 975 F.2d 815, 821 (Fed. Cir. 1992). This rule ensures that "parties may have the opportunity to offer all the evidence they believe relevant to the issues [and] in order that litigants may not be surprised on appeal by final decision made there of issues upon which they have had no opportunity to introduce evidence."

⁶ Federal Drivers Privacy Protection Act of 1994

Hormel v. Helvering, 312 U.S. 552, 556 (1941)

- ¶22. Further, Petitioners failed to show how the trial court erred based upon the issues and argument it presented below. The trial court did precisely what Petitioners asked the court to do. Petitioners asked the trial court in it's Petition "that the Court consider the records request submitted by Mr. LaCroix and the applicable law regarding the production of such documents." (R. 13). And at trial, Petitioners asked the court for "some guidance from the Court," (T. Pg 3, 8-9) Petitioners asked the court to "tell us what to do and to do it, so that we can follow the law." (T. Pg 10, 10-11). "In the absence of meaningful argument and citation of authority, this Court generally will not consider the assignment of error." Id. at 430. See also Stidham v. State, 750 So.2d 1238 (Miss. 2000) (the appellant has a duty to show by plausible argument with supporting authorities how the lower court erred) Rush v. State, 749 So.2d 1024, 1026 (Miss. 1999)(appellate court did not address six issues raised on appeal where appellant did not discuss or cite authority); Sumrall v. State, 758 So.2d 1091, 1094.
- ¶23. In the case sub judice, Petitioners only make a cursory argument without either citing to specific instances in the record of any error made by the court or abuse of discretion by the trial court. See Randolph v. State of Mississippi, 1999-KA-02119-SCT (2002) (this Court finds that because there is no meaningful argument on this issue for appellate review, the issue is considered waived.)
- ¶24. For an issue to be "properly preserved" in the trial court, the issue needs to be presented to the trial court for consideration. For another thing, the issue needs to be raised at the appropriate time or times in the trial court. All the arguments Petitioners are making for the first time on appeal could have, and should have, been made to the Chancery Courts below. Calvary Holdings, Inc. v. Chandler, 948 F.2d 59, 64 (1st Cir. 1991); Blum v. Stenson, 465 U.S. 886, 892 n.5 (1984) Petitioners failure to make timely objection to matters raised in argument below will waive any issue on appeal with respect thereto in the absence of plain error. United States v. Ramos, 42 MJ 392, 397 (1995)
- ¶25. The so called "raise-or-waive" rule is a central precept of appellate litigation in the United States. Petitioners failed to preserve in the court below the issues and arguments presented for the first time on appeal. Petitioner's issues and arguments asserted on appeal

are procedurally barred as Petitioners offer no authority for its argument. Arguments advanced on appeal must "contain the contentions of the appellant with respect to the issues presented, and the reasons for those contentions, with citations to the authorities, statutes, and parts of the record on. See Mississippi Rules of Appellate Procedure 28(a)(6). Failure to comply with M.R.A.P. 28(a)(6) renders an argument procedurally barred. See Read v. Sonat Offshore Drilling, Inc., 515 So.2d at 921. As such, this particular argument is procedurally barred.

Birrages v. III. Cent. R.R., 950 So. 2d 188, 194 (¶14) (Miss. Ct. App. 2006) (citations omitted) Petitioners offer no authority in support of its arguments, nor is there new argument contained in the record. Petitioners on appeal do not cite with authority any exceptional reason why this court should consider a new argument and legal theory presented for the first time on appeal and consider this issue as no "miscarriage of justice" will result Sys., Inc. v. Hurston Enters., 566 F.2d 1039, 1041 (5th Cir.1978).

It is the duty of the appellant to provide this Court with authority to support his arguments on appeal. <u>Hoops v. State</u>, 681 So. 2d 526 (Miss. 1996). "This Court has repeatedly held that failure to cite any authority may be treated as a procedural bar, and it is under no obligation to consider the assignment."

<u>Weaver v. State</u>, No. 95-KA-01034-SCT, 1997 WL 703057, at *4 (Miss. 1997) (citing <u>McClain v. State</u>, 625 So. 2d 774, 781 (Miss. 1993)) quoting <u>Gray v. State of Mississippi</u>, No. 96-DP-00241-SCT, ¶180, (Miss. 1998)

¶26. "To preserve an argument, a party 'must press, not merely intimate, an argument." Kelly v. Foti, 77 F.3d 819, 823 (5th Cir. 1996). An argument cannot be raised in a 'perfunctory and underdeveloped' manner. Kensington Rock Island L.P. v. American Eagle Historic Partners, 921 F.2d 122, 124-25 (7th Cir. 1990)...."the touchstone is whether the party sufficiently apprised the trial court of the argument it is pressing on appeal, so that the trial court had an opportunity to rule on it." See Whittaker Corp. v. Execuair Corp., 953 F.2d 510, 515 (9th Cir. 1992); id. Kensington, 921 F.2d at 125 n.1. This stems from a policy of respecting the trial court's function as well as fairness to the parties. A vague reference to an argument, without any legal reasoning, will be deemed waived. See Kensington, id. Similarly, merely citing a statute, case or other authority, without expressly articulating the argument that flows

from those authorities, is inadequate if the argument was not considered by the trial court. See, e.g., <u>Peck v. Lan-sing School Dist.</u>, 148 F.3d 619, 626 (6th Cir. 1998).

- ¶27. Supporting their argument of issues with reasons and authorities is part of an appellant's burden on appeal. Pate v. State, 419 So.2d 1324, 1325-26 (Miss.1982). See Petitioners citation of A.L.R., Deborah F. Buckman, B. Pg 9, ¶1....as stated above, failure to expressly articulate their argument which flows from the cases sited in the A.L.R. says nothing in support of Petitioner's assertions and suppositions. An American Law Review is strictly an analysis of a subject of law by an attorney and is not authority but may be used merely as persuasion. Furthermore, absent the A.L.R. cited by Petitioners, they have not offered one case law citation which supports the assertions and arguments presented on appeal.
- ¶28. "In the absence of meaningful argument and citation of authority, this Court generally will not consider the assignment of error." <u>Govan v. State</u>, 591 So.2d 430 (Miss.1991) See also <u>Stidham v. State</u>, 750 So.2d 1238 (Miss. 2000) (the appellant has a duty to show by plausible argument with supporting authorities how the lower court erred) <u>Rush v. State</u>, 749 So.2d 1024, 1026 (Miss. 1999)
- ¶29. "The law is well settled in Mississippi that appellate courts will not put trial courts in error for issues not first presented to the trial court for resolution, and that issues not presented in the trial court cannot be first argued on appeal." Chassiniol v. Bank of Kilmichael, 626 So. 2d 127, 133-34 (Miss. 1993). See also Seaney v. Seaney, 218 So. 2d 5 (Miss. 1969), A. H. George And Co. v. Louisville & N. R. Co., 88 Miss. 306, 40 So. 486 (1906).

"We have made it transparently clear that the raise-or-waive rule can neither be ignored nor brushed aside as 'a pettifogging technicality or a trap for the indolent." Quoting Judge Bruce M. Selya, Senior Federal Judge on the United States Court of Appeals for the First Circuit, Judicial Panel on Multidistrict Litigation and Chief Judge of the United States Foreign Intelligence Surveillance Court of Review.

¶30. Petitioner's argument is procedurally barred because it was not presented to the lower court and should not be presented for the first time on appeal. <u>Berdin v. State</u>, 648 So. 2d 73, 80 (Miss. 1994); <u>Collins v. State</u>, 594 So. 2d at 80 (Miss. 1992), <u>McCray v. State of</u> Mississippi, NO. 95-KP-00686-SCT (1997) Parties must still place objections on the record to

preserve arguments for appeal. <u>Sonford Prods. Corp. v. Freels</u>, 495 So. 2d 468, 473 (Miss. 1986)(party's argument on appeal was not presented to the administrative judge). "The ordinary result of failure to raise an argument in this situation is waiver...because [Petitioners] had both an opportunity and an incentive to raise the argument below". <u>United States v. Carpenter</u>, 320 F.3d 334, 341 n.6 (2d Cir. 2003)

- ¶31. "Advancing one theory in the trial court and jettisoning it in favor of another (previously unarticulated) theory in the court of appeals is unacceptable." Such a praxis violates a prudential principle firmly embedded in our jurisprudence that in the absence of extraordinary circumstances 'and none exist in this case', that "legal theories not raised squarely in the lower court cannot be broached for the first time on appeal." Teamsters Union v. Superline Transp. Co., 953 F.2d 17, 21 (1st Cir. 1992). Cases holding to that effect are legion. See, e.g., Vargas-Ruiz v. Golden Arch Dev., Inc., 368 F.3d 1, 3 (1st Cir. 2004); United States v. Bongiorno, 106 F.3d 1027, 1034 (1st Cir. 1997); United States v. Dietz, 950 F.2d 50, 55 (1st Cir. 1991); Clauson v. Smith, 823 F.2d 660, 666 (1st Cir. 1987); Johnston v. Holiday Inns, Inc., 595 F.2d 890, 894 (1st Cir. 1979).
- ¶32. "The Court has long held that arguments not asserted at the trial level are waived and barred on appeal." Smith v. State, 430 So. 2d 406, 407 (Miss. 1983). Brooks v. State, 209 Miss. 150, 155-56, 46 So. 2d 94, 97 (1950) and its progeny, Whigham v. State, 611 So. 2d 988, 995-96 (Miss. 1992) and Scarbough v. State, 893 So. 2d 265, 271 (¶16) (Miss. Ct. App. 2004). A party waives any argument on appeal that was not raised in the district court. Stokes v. Emerson Elec. Co., 217 F.3d 353, 358 n.19 (5th Cir. 2000); Guillory v. PPG Industries, Inc., 434 F.3d 303, 313 & n.37 (5th Cir. 2005)
- ¶33. "This Court has continuously adhered to the rule that questions will not be decided upon appeal which were not presented to the trial court and that court given an opportunity to rule on them." Colburn v. State, 431 So. 2d, 1113 (Miss. 1983) also see Woodmen Life Insurance Society v. JRY, et al., No. 08-30405, (5th Cir., Mar. 23, 2009)
- ¶34. "Because [Petitioners] failed to present this argument to the district court, they are barred from making it on appeal." See <u>Stokes v. Emerson Elec. Co.</u>, id. ("Arguments not raised in the district court cannot be asserted for the first time on appeal."); <u>Brown v. Ames</u>, 201 F.3d

654, 663 (5th Cir. 2000) ("To avoid being waived, an argument must be raised to such a degree that the trial court may rule on it." (internal quotations omitted) quoting <u>Jane Doe</u>, <u>Individually and as next friend of Julie Doe</u>, <u>a minor Plaintiff V. My Space Inc; News Corporation</u>, No. 07-50345, (5th Cir. 2008), Chamberlain v. United States, 401 F.3d 335, 337 n.7 (5th Cir. 2005).

¶35. Petitioner has wholly failed to make a single citation to the record or transcript showing where they posed any error asserted and any issue and/or argument being made for the first time on appeal.

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